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 Plaintiff City of Los Angeles (“the City”) alleges as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. By this lawsuit, the City seeks an order declaring that the Federal Aviation 

Administration (“FAA”) is in violation of the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 

552 (“FOIA”), and to compel disclosure of records containing data important to the lives 

and livelihoods of City residents throughout the San Fernando Valley.  These records 

relate to the environmental, noise, and safety studies FAA purportedly conducted when 

the agency proposed new aircraft departure procedures at Hollywood-Burbank Airport 

(“Burbank Airport”).   

2. In October 2018, FAA published a “Draft Environmental Review Proposed 

Categorical Exclusion” report regarding proposed new aircraft procedures (“Draft ER”).  

In the Draft ER, FAA claimed that it had analyzed four alternative scenarios for aircraft 

departures:   

(1)  a no-action scenario;  

(2)  an alternative scenario where flight paths would follow  U.S. 

Highway 101;  

(3)  an alternative scenario involving a southward shift of the existing 

departure flight paths; and  

(4)  open SID (Standard Instrument Departures) procedures, namely the 

OROSZ THREE and SLAPP TWO procedures (FAA’s “proposed 

procedures”).  

3. Relying upon undisclosed data, FAA told the public that the first three 

scenarios were not feasible for operational and/or safety reasons.  FAA claimed that the 

agency’s proposed procedures (OROSZ THREE AND SLAPP TWO) as compared to the 

baseline (the no-action scenario) would have no significant impact on noise levels and 

air pollution and would not significantly affect the area’s ecological, recreational, 

historic, or cultural properties.  Thus, FAA concluded that its proposed action was only  
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subject to the most basic level of environmental review under the National 

Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), 42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq., a “CATEX” or Categorical 

Exclusion.   

4. There was immediate and justified public outcry, which continues to this 

day.  Any change in flight departure procedures at Burbank Airport would have the 

potential to concentrate low-flying aircraft above homes, schools, places of worship, 

parks, recreation centers, and historic sites primarily situated in the City’s portion of the 

San Fernando Valley.  That is because although the Burbank Airport is situated almost 

entirely within the boundaries of the City of Burbank, aircraft departing from the airport 

immediately—at their lowest altitudes—enter airspace above the City of Los Angeles 

and its residents. The aircraft then ascend over huge swathes of City neighborhoods, 

some of which are located in particularly noise-sensitive (and wildfire-prone) areas such 

as canyons and parks.   

5. On October 29, 2018, the City submitted a FOIA request, reasonably 

targeted to seek only documents and modeling data explicitly referenced in FAA’s Draft 

ER.  The City assisted FAA by citing the relevant page numbers of the Draft ER where 

FAA had referenced the records the City seeks.  Though FAA had sufficient time and an 

obligation under both FOIA and NEPA to disclose these records to the public affected by 

the proposed procedures, FAA failed to produce any records in time to inform the 

public’s (and the City’s) comments due Sunday, November 18, 2018.  

6. Over a year later—and though FAA has effectively conceded that its 

original CATEX review was deficient—the agency has produced only one record to the 

City.  FAA withholds seven records the agency admits should have been made public 

and claims that the remaining 26 records are protected in their entirety by the 

deliberative process privilege.  Under governing Ninth Circuit law, the deliberative 

process privilege does not apply to shield “factual” information and does not apply after 

an agency has made its decisions, such as the ones contained in the Draft ER.  

7. The current flight procedures at Burbank Airport are causing ongoing and 
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 significant impacts to communities in Los Angeles south of the Airport and, any FAA 

flight procedure decision – and the facts and analyses underlying a decision – is 

information of clear and immediate public interest.  As stated further herein, this suit 

demands that FAA comply with FOIA and produce all responsive records to the City so 

that it can make these records immediately available to the public and so that the City’s 

technical and legal experts can validate FAA’s methodology and factual conclusions. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action and personal 

jurisdiction over the parties pursuant to 5 U.S.C. 552(a)(4)(B) and 28 U.S.C. 1331. 

9. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B), because 

the City of Los Angeles is within the Central District of California.  

10. The Court has authority to enjoin federal agencies from withholding agency 

records and to order production of any agency records improperly withheld.  5 U.S.C. § 

552(a)(4)(B) and 28 U.S.C. § 2202. 

11. The Court has authority to grant declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

2201. 

PARTIES 

12. The City of Los Angeles is a municipal corporation, organized under the 

provisions of the Los Angeles City Charter. 

13. Defendant FAA is a federal agency of the United States and is subject to 

FOIA pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1).  FAA has possession of and control over agency 

records that the City seeks, which the City has properly requested pursuant to FOIA, the 

Department of Transportation’s implementing regulations, and FAA Orders. 

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

FOIA requires that a federal agency release records, unless a statutory exemption 

applies.  5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(1)-(9).  Pursuant to Department of Transportation (DOT) 

regulations which govern FAA, a FOIA “record” “includes any writing, drawing, 
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 map, recording, diskette, DVD, CD-ROM, tape, film, photograph, or other documentary 

material, regardless of medium, by which information is preserved. The term also 

includes any such documentary material stored electronically by computer.” 49 C.F.R.   

§ 7.2. 

14. Agencies may withhold only portions of records that fall under one of nine 

statutory exemptions.  FAA invokes Exemption 5, which protects “inter-agency or intra-

agency memorandums or letters which would not be available by law to a party other 

than an agency in litigation with the agency.” 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(5).   

15. Thus, Exemption 5 protects only material that would be protected from 

disclosure in civil discovery.  Of those discovery privileges, FAA invoked the 

deliberative process privilege.  It is well-settled, however, that the deliberative process 

privilege does not protect purely factual data or material.  

16. Further, even if an exemption applies, “[a]ny reasonably segregable portion 

of a record shall be provided to any person requesting such record after deletion of the 

portions which are exempt.”  5 U.S.C. § 552(b).  “It is DOT policy to make its records 

available to the public to the greatest extent possible, in keeping with the spirit of FOIA. 

This includes releasing reasonably segregable and meaningful nonexempt information in 

a document from which exempt information is withheld.” 49 C.F.R. § 7.23. 

17. DOT regulations provide that, whenever disclosure of a record containing 

FOIA exempted information is required, “[FAA] redacts such information” with a “full 

explanation of the justification for the deletion.” 49 C.F.R. § 7.14.  FAA must provide 

information regarding the type of record withheld as well as a reasonable estimate of the 

volume of withheld material. See 49 C.F.R. § 7.31 (requiring an estimate of the volume 

of records or information withheld, in number of pages or other reasonable form of 

estimation.); FAA Order 1270.1 (requiring identification of the type of record withheld). 

18. Within twenty business days of an agency’s receipt of a FOIA request, the 

agency must issue a determination resolving the request, and must “immediately notify 
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” the requester of “such determination and the reasons therefor.”  5 U.S.C. § 

552(a)(6)(A)(i)(I).   

19. An agency may only delay its response to a request if “unusual 

circumstances” (as described by FOIA) exist.  Even in this event, the agency’s time to 

respond is extended by no more than ten days. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(B)(i).  Any such 

extension must be “by written notice” to the requester, “setting forth the unusual 

circumstances for such extension and the date on which a determination is expected.” Id. 

Pursuant to FAA Order 1270.1A, a 10-day extension of time is permitted only when 

“unusual circumstances” exist. Also, program officers are directed to obtain agreement 

from the requester for such extensions.  Id. 1270.1A, Part 14(d). 

20. If a federal agency’s determination as to a request is appealed, the agency 

must make a determination with respect to the appeal within twenty business days after 

receipt.   5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(ii).   

21. If the agency fails to comply with the statutory time limits for issuing and 

communicating determinations as to requests and appeals, the requester is deemed to 

have exhausted its administrative remedies and may immediately file suit. 5 U.S.C. §§ 

552(a)(4)(B), (a)(6)(C)(i).   

ADDITIONAL FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

The City’s FOIA Request 

22. On or about October 29, 2018, Los Angeles City Councilmember Paul 

Krekorian, with the assistance of the City Attorney’s Office, submitted a FOIA request 

to FAA (Exhibit A), seeking the following five categories of records: 

(1) All records of AEDT (Aviation Environmental Design Tool), 

TARGETS (the Terminal Area Route Generation and Traffic Simulation tool), National 

Offload Program radar tracks, and other modeling inputs and outputs, that FAA used to 

reflect the “no action” and proposed action alternatives. 

(2) All records demonstrating which 90 days within calendar year 2017 
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 FAA selected for its “track data” and what days were selected. Draft ER, 20. 

(3) All records describing the terms of the “settlement in March 2016” 

with Benedict Hills Estate Association and Benedict Hills Homeowners Association. See 

Draft ER, 3, n 2. 

(4) All records used for the evaluation of the Proposed Action by the 

Safety Risk Management Panel. Draft ER, 7-8; and 

(5) All records generated by the Safety Risk Management Panel 

regarding the Proposed Action. Draft ER, 7-8. 

(Ex. A, Att. 1, p. 2.) 

23. Requests 1 and 2 sought only the “underlying data” used for modeling noise 

and the airspace surrounding Burbank Airport.  The City seeks these records so that the 

public can understand, recreate and validate FAA’s noise screening and safety 

methodologies.  

24. Request 3 sought documents relating to a settlement agreement referenced 

in the Draft ER to which FAA had been a party and the Department of Justice had been 

counsel of record.  FAA has repeatedly asserted that the terms of the settlement 

agreement necessitated its proposed procedures.  Upon information and belief, the 

private parties to the settlement agreement have represented that they would like these 

records to be released to the public. 

25. Requests 4 and 5 requested factual data used by and generated for a 

purported safety risk analysis, which FAA had also disclosed and touted in the Draft ER.   

26. In connection with its FOIA request, the City justified its request for 

expedited treatment and agreed to multi-track processing so that FAA could produce 

records as they became available. Ex. A, 1-2. The City also requested a public interest 

fee waiver. Ex. A, 1. The City certified its requests. Ex. A, 3. 

Intervening FAA Correspondence 

27. On November 5, 2018, FAA acknowledged receipt of the FOIA request  
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(received on October 29) and simultaneously granted itself 10 additional days to 

respond, on the basis that it “need[ed] to search for and collect records from field 

facilities.” (Exhibit B.)   

28. The following day, FAA requested that the City justify its fee waiver 

request, warning that “[the City’s] request will not be processed until the fee waiver 

issue is resolved” (Exhibit C.)  Concerned that FAA might use the fee waiver request to 

stall disclosure, the City responded the very next day.  The City provided ample 

justification for a fee waiver but stated that the City would pay the duplication fees if 

they were causing FAA’s delay in the disclosure of the records. (Exhibit D.) 

29. Almost two weeks later, by letter of November 19, 2018, FAA claimed that 

a “fee waiver” was not necessary after all. FAA also supplied a cryptic, factually 

incorrect non-decision on the expedited processing request. FAA stated that it “[would] 

attempt to prioritize this FOIA request over other FOIAs. However, due to litigation 

between the City of LA, in addition to the status of any final agency decisions regarding 

Burbank, the release of these records will require extra scrutiny.” (Exhibit E.) 

(underlining added).   

30. At that time, there was no pending litigation between FAA and the City. To 

date, FAA has never explained why “extra scrutiny” was required for the release of 

purely factual data FAA had referenced in its public documents. FAA has never 

expressly granted or denied the City’s request for expedited treatment, which was based 

on FAA’s imposed deadline for the public to comment on its proposed procedures. 

FAA’s Initial Determination 

31. By letter of December 12, 2018, FAA issued a deficient Initial 

Determination on the FOIA request. (Exhibit F.)  FAA disclosed that a search conducted 

by the Western Service Area, Operations Group yielded 34 responsive records. FAA did 

not identify the field facilities which it had searched, despite having granted itself 10 

additional days based on the need to “search for and collect records from field facilities.” 

See Ex. B.  
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32. FAA stated that 26 of 34 records “contain material” that have been withheld 

based on FOIA Exemption 5 and the deliberative process privilege.  FAA did not 

describe the nature or volume of these records or attempt to provide any redacted 

records, as required by FOIA and agency regulations. 

33. FAA stated that eight records were public, but the enclosed CD contained 

only one document: a 13-page Department of Justice-negotiated settlement agreement, 

which should have already been made public pursuant to DOJ policy strongly favoring 

public disclosure of settlement agreements.  A citation to that DOJ policy regarding 

“Settlement Transparency” had been relayed to FAA in the City’s FOIA request.  

The City’s Administrative Appeal  

34. On or about February 21, 2019, the City submitted an administrative appeal 

to FAA, with a copy of the administrative record. (Exhibit K; Exs. A-J.) FAA 

acknowledged receipt via email of February 28, 2019. 

35. On May 13, 2019, the City sent a follow-up letter, requesting a report on the 

status of the appeal. (Exhibit L). 

36. After exchanging emails inquiring about the status of the appeal and the 

production of the records, on November 12, 2019, the FOIA officer assigned to the 

appeal informed a representative from the City Attorney’s Office that she had been 

unable even to obtain the withheld records.  Accordingly, upon information and belief, 

the FAA FOIA appeals office had not even commenced the process of reviewing the 

withheld records to evaluate the merits of the City’s administrative appeal. 

37. The statutory deadline for response to the administrative appeal has long 

passed, and FAA has demonstrated an unwillingness to comply with its statutory 

obligations throughout the FOIA process.  As a result, the City is deemed to have 

exhausted administrative remedies and may bring this lawsuit to enforce FOIA.  5 U.S.C. 

§ 552(a)(6)(C)(ii).   
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FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

38. The City repeats, realleges, and incorporates the allegations in paragraphs 1 

to 38 as though set forth fully herein. 

39. The City has a statutory right to have FAA process its requests in a manner 

that complies with FOIA.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3). FAA violated FOIA, as follows: 

(1) FAA violated FOIA by failing to conduct an adequate search of its 

agency records in a way reasonably calculated to locate responsive “records,” as defined 

by FOIA and applicable regulations. 

(2) FAA violated FOIA by granting itself a 10-day extension despite the 

lack of unusual circumstances and by failing to adjudicate the City’s request for 

expedited treatment and/or denying expedited treatment. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(E)(iii). 

FAA also justified its delay with arbitrary and inaccurate representations, including 

purported “litigation between the City” and the need to search multiple field facilities.  

(3) FAA violated FOIA by failing to timely produce to the City at least 

seven records the agency admitted were public. 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(3)(A) and (B). 

(4) FAA violated FOIA by withholding at least 26 records under the 

deliberative process privilege.  5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(5). 

(5) FAA violated FOIA by failing to provide a full explanation of the 

justification for any withholdings and information regarding the nature and volume of 

the records withheld. 49 C.F.R. § 7.14; id. § 7.31; FAA Order 1270.1. 

(6) Even if FAA properly withheld any records (which it did not), FAA 

violated FOIA by not providing the City with the portions of the record which are public.  

5 U.S.C. § 552(b); 49 C.F.R. § 7.23.  

(7) FAA violated FOIA by abandoning its responsibilities to make a 

timely determination with respect to the City’s administrative appeal, further delaying 

the prompt production of the records at issue.  5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(ii).   

40. The City reserves the right to allege additional violations based upon FAA’s 

production of a Vaughn index, custodial declarations, and discovery. 

Case 2:19-cv-10506   Document 1   Filed 12/12/19   Page 10 of 11   Page ID #:10



 

10 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the City requests that this Court: 

(1) Expedite this proceeding as provided for in 28 U.S.C. § 1657; 

(2) Declare that FAA has violated FOIA as alleged in paragraph 40; 

(3) Declare that the records responsive to the City’s FOIA request are 

public under 5 U.S.C. § 552 and must be disclosed, or in the alternative, conduct an in 

camera review to determine whether any parts of the records are properly public under 

FOIA, and thereafter order such records disclosed; 

(4) Order FAA to produce all records responsive to the City’s FOIA 

request immediately and with no charge to the City; 

(5) Order FAA to prepare a “Vaughn Index” describing in detail any 

records or portions thereof withheld pursuant to Vaughn v. Rosen, 484 F.2d 820 (D.C. 

Cir. 1973); 

(6) Award the City its costs and reasonably attorneys’ fees in this action, 

pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(E)(i); and 

(7) Grant other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 

 

 
Dated: December 12, 2019 
  

Respectfully submitted, 
 
MICHAEL N. FEUER, City Attorney  
 
 
 
 
     /s/  
DAVID J. MICHAELSON 
Chief Assistant City Attorney  
Attorneys for Plaintiff City of Los Angeles 
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EXHIBIT K  
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May 13, 2019 

Via U.S. Mail and E-mail 

.ti,,� 41: wt 

-!! < --• 

- ■■IN 1',: ......... 
. .. 

MICHAEL N. FEUER 

CITY ATTORNEY 

Assistant Administrator for Finance and Management, AFN-400 

Federal Aviation Administration 

800 Independence Avenue, SW 

Washington, DC 20591 

FOIA-Appeals@faa.gov 

Laurie L. Karnay 

Laurie.Karnay@faa.gov 

Patrick J. Wells, Office of Chief Counsel 

Patrick.J.Wells@faa.gov 

Re: FOIA Appeal of FAA's December 12, 2018 Initial Determination 

The purpose of this letter is to request immediate production of the documents and data requested by 

the City's Freedom of Information request of October 29, 2018. On February 21, the City filed an 

administrative appeal to the FAA's adverse initial determination, to which no substantive response has 

been provided. 

The records requested are vitally important to the City, its neighborhoods, and its businesses, all of 

which have been profoundly affected by existing and proposed overflights. Please provide a response, 

which at a minimum provides the estimated dates of production. If FAA continues to believe its 

withholdings are justified, it should provide a substantive response to the administrative appeal. Thank 

you for your prompt reply. 

PAUL KREKORIAN 

COUNCILMEMBER, SECOND DISTRICT 

City Hall East 200 N. Main Street Room 800 Los Angeles, CA 90012 (213) 978-8100 Fax (213) 978-8312 
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